
 
 

 
 
THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
Washington, DC 20463 

       November 22, 2022 
 
 
TO:  The Commission 
  
FROM: Lisa J. Stevenson 
  Acting General Counsel 
  
  Charles Kitcher 
  Associate General Counsel for Enforcement 
 
BY:  Jin Lee 
  Deputy Associate General Counsel for Enforcement 
 
  Peter G. Blumberg 
  Assistant General Counsel 
   
   Christopher Curran 
  Attorney 
 
RE: MUR 7853 (Lance Harris, et al.) – Reject Proposed Counteroffer 
     
 
I. INTRODUCTION 
 

On May 12, 2022, the Commission found reason to believe that Lance Harris and 
Campaign to Elect Lance Harris and Blaine Hebert in his official capacity as treasurer (the “State 
Committee”) (collectively “the Respondents”) violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e) by transferring 
non-federal funds to Stand for Truth, an independent expenditure-only committee, in connection 
with a federal election.1  The Commission authorized pre-probable cause conciliation, approved 
a Factual and Legal Analysis (“F&LA”), and approved a draft conciliation agreement with a civil 
penalty of 2  

   

 
1  Certification (“Cert.”) ¶ 1, MUR 7853 (Lance Harris, et al.) (May 16, 2022).  The Commission also found 
reason to believe Stand for Truth violated 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e) by receiving non-federal funds from Lance Harris 
and the State Committee, authorized pre-probable cause conciliation with Stand for Truth, approved an F&LA, and 
approved a draft conciliation agreement   Id. ¶¶ 2, 4, 5 & 6.  Negotiations with Stand 
for Truth are ongoing.  
2  Id. ¶¶ 3, 5-6.  
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On June 22, 2022, Respondents’ counsel sent OGC a response to the Commission’s 
F&LA along with proposed edits to the Commission-approved conciliation agreement 
(Attachment 1) (discussed below).  The response to the F&LA argues that the legal analysis for 
the Commission reason-to-believe finding is “problematic” and requests that the Commission 
“re-review” its analysis.3  On August 9, 2022, just days after Respondents’ counsel indicated to 
OGC that a new counteroffer would be forthcoming, Respondents’ counsel sent its F&LA 
response to directly to Commissioners along with letters requesting that the Commission 
reconsider its reason to believe determination or reduce the civil penalty to what Respondents’ 
proposed in their June 22 counteroffer   Respondents have refused to 
negotiate further absent a decision by the Commission on their direct appeal. 

 
For the following reasons, we recommend that the Commission decline Respondents’ 

requests.  
 

II. DISCUSSION 
 
A. Respondents’ Supplemental Response 
 
Respondents’ reason to believe response first takes issue with the F&LA’s reliance on 

Advisory Opinion (“AO”) 2009-26 (Coulson), AO 2007-26 (Schock), and MUR 6601 (Oelrich) 
to hold that a federal candidate’s state campaign committee is, as a matter of law, EFMC’d by 
that federal candidate.  They argue that this position is not supported by Commission precedent 
because in each case, unlike here, there was no factual dispute that the federal candidate 
controlled the state committee.4  Respondents next argue that the Commission’s reason to believe 
determination differs from the outcome in MUR 7783 (Friends of Byron Donalds).5 
 

In our view, these arguments are not persuasive.   First, while it is true that the records in 
AO 2009-26 and AO 2007-26 included admissions that the federal candidate “maintained” the 
state committee, the Commission, in MUR 6601 (Oelrich) and MUR 7337 (Debbie Lesko), 
interpreted those advisory opinions to stand for proposition that federal candidates as a matter of 
law EFMC their state campaign committees.6  That position is buttressed by the Commission’s 
determination in AO 2007-01 (McCaskill), where the Commission determined McCaskill for 
Auditor was an EFMC’d entity despite no admission of EFMC in the advisory opinion request.7   

 
Respondents also fail to identify any precedent in which the Commission held that a state 

campaign committee of a federal candidate is not EFMC’d.  While Respondents attempt to 
portray MUR 7783 (Byron Donalds) as precedent, the facts of that matter are materially 

 
3  RTB Resp. at 1 & 3 (June 22, 2022). 
4  RTB Resp. at 1-3. 
5  Id. at 2-3. 
6  See Factual and Legal Analysis (“F&LA”) at 10, MUR 6601 (Oelrich for Congress) (relying on AO 2009-
26 and 2007-26, not any admission by the respondent, to hold that the federal candidate’s state committee was 
EFMC’d by that candidate); F&LA at 6, MUR 7337 (Debbie Lesko and Re-elect Debbie Lesko for Senate) (same). 
7  Advisory Opinion 2007-01 at 3 (McCaskill). 
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distinguishable from the facts here, since the state committee there was not the authorized 
campaign committee of the candidate but “a political organization registered under Section 527 
of the Internal Revenue Code”8 and there was written documentation suggesting that the 
candidate resigned his position with the state committee prior to his federal candidacy.9  No 
similar evidence exists in this matter.10  Instead, the contemporaneous evidence indicates that 
Harris EFMC’d the State Committee during the relevant time period given that Harris signed the 
State Committee’s 2020 disclosure report as the “candidate/chairperson.”11   

 
Finally, Respondents argue that the Commission’s position in this matter, i.e., that a 

federal candidate’s state campaign committee is, as a matter of law, EFMC’d by the federal 
candidate, violates principles of fundamental fairness because it fails to provide fair notice of a 
legal rule that had not been previously announced.12  But there has been no “policy change.”13  
Rather, Respondents’ argument relies on the mistaken view that MUR 7783 and various 
statements of reasons constitute binding legal precedent.  They do not.14  Instead, it is the 
Commission’s interpretation of 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e)(1)(A) in AO 2007-01, AO 2009-26, AO 
2007-26, MUR 6601, and MUR 7337 that federal candidates EFMC their state committees that is 
binding.  The Commission’s F&LA in this matter properly applied those precedents. 

 
Finally, neither the Act nor Commission regulations provide a procedure by which 

respondents can submit a request for reconsideration, and Respondents cite no precedent for their 
request.  When respondents have made such requests in similar situations, the Office of General 
Counsel has sent a letter to respondents stating that no such procedure exists in the Act or 
Commission regulations.15 

 
Accordingly, in keeping with the Commission’s practice, we plan to send a letter to 

 
8  Resp. at 1, MUR 7783 (Friends of Byron Donalds) (Sept. 28, 2020).    
9  See id. at 2 (stating Donalds resigned and was replaced as Chairman of the committee and citing 
contemporary documentary support). 
10  Respondents claim Harris “ended his affiliation” with the State Committee on March 12, 2020, six months 
before Harris’ federal candidacy.  RTB Resp. at 1; see also Harris Resp. at 2 (Dec. 15, 2020) (making same 
representation).   

 
  

11  Louisiana Ethics Administration Program, Candidate’s Report, Lance Harris (Feb. 5, 2021), 
https://www.ethics.la.gov/CampaignFinanceSearch/ShowEForm.aspx?ReportID=95431.   
12  RTB Resp. at 3-4. 
13  Id. at 3. 
14  MUR 7783 resulted in a split Commission vote, see Cert., MUR 7783, rendering it “not [] binding legal 
precedent.”  Common Cause v. FEC, 842 F.2d 436, 449 n.32 (D.C. Cir. 1988).  For the same reasons, Respondents’ 
reliance on statements of reasons in MURs 6789 and 6852 (Special Operations for America, et al.) and MUR 6928 
(Santorum) are unavailing.  We would also note that MUR 7783 was decided around the time the Commission found 
reason to believe in this MUR, indicating that the respondents in this matter were not relying on MUR 7738 when it 
contemplated its actions.  See Certification (May 4, 2022) MUR 7783 (Friends of Byron Donalds).   
15  See Memorandum to Commission Regarding Request to Reconsider Reason to Believe Finding at 2 (Nov. 
19, 2019), MUR 7291, et al. (DNC, et al.).   
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Respondents informing them that the Act and Commission regulations contain no provision for 
respondents to request that the Commission reconsider a reason to believe finding.    
 

III. RECOMMENDATION 
 

1. Reject Respondents’ request to lower the civil penalty to  
 

Attachments: 
1. June 22, 2022 Response to Commission’s Factual and Legal Analysis 
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A R I Z O N A          C A L I F O R N I A          F L O R I D A          K E N T U C K Y          M I C H I G A N

N E V A D A          O H I O          T E N N E S S E E          T E X A S          T O R O N T O          W A S H I N G T O N  D C

I N T E R N A T I O N A L  S Q U A R E
1 8 2 5 E Y E  S T R E E T , N W , S U I T E  9 0 0
W A S H I N G T O N , D C   2 0 0 0 6
T E L E P H O N E :   2 0 2 - 4 5 7 - 0 1 6 0
F A C S I M I L E :   8 4 4 - 6 7 0 - 6 0 0 9
h t t p : / / w w w . d i c k i n s o n w r i g h t . c o m

C H A R L I E  S P I E S

C S p ie s @ d i c k i n s o n w r i g h t . c o m
2 0 2 . 4 6 6 . 5 9 6 4

June 22, 2022

Christopher Curran
Office of the General Counsel
Enforcement Division 
Federal Election Commission
1050 First Street NE 
Washington, DC 20463

VIA E-MAIL: ccurran@fec.gov

Re: MUR 7853 Response from Lance Harris, Lance Harris for Congress and Campaign to 
Elect Lance Harris 

We represent Lance Harris, Lance Harris for Congress, Campaign to Elect Lance Harris, and 
Blaine Hebert, in his official capacity as Treasurer (collectively “the Respondents”) in the above-
referenced matter. We have reviewed the Factual and Legal Analysis (“F&LA”) that found reason-
to-believe against the Respondents, asserting that Campaign to Elect Lance Harris (“the State 
Committee”) was considered an entity established, financed, maintained, or controlled (EFMC’d) by 
Harris, and therefore, the transfer of funds to Stand for Truth was considered essentially a direction 
of soft money by a candidate.  The Commission’s legal analysis is problematic on both factual and 
enforcement consistency levels. 

1. The Commission’s Assertion that A State Committee Is, As a Matter of Law, 
EFMC’d by a Federal Campaign Committee Is Not Supported By Prior 
Precedent. 

Harris ended his affiliation with the State Campaign on March 12, 2020, over six months 
prior to the State Committee making its first contribution to Stand for Truth, and all available 
evidence supports that he had zero role in the State Committee’s decision to make a contribution to 
Stand for Truth.  Despite lack of available evidence showing Mr. Harris’ involvement and the 
Respondents’ assurances stating that Mr. Harris had no involvement with the State Campaign at the 
time of the contribution to Stand for Truth, the Commission created a new “rule” out of whole cloth 
and found that the State Committee was controlled by Harris.  This new rule claims that state 
campaigns of a federal candidate are “as a matter of law” EFMC’d by the federal candidate and are
acting on that candidate’s behalf.  In fact, no law supports such a theory, nor does any of the sourced 
“precedent.” 

ATTACHMENT 1
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In support of their legal premise, the Commission cites two Advisory Opinions (“AOs”), 
AOs 2009-26 (Coulson) and 2007-06 (Schock), as well as one enforcement case, MUR 6601 
(Oelrich for Congress).  However, when reviewing these matters in full, it is clear that they do not 
support the Commission’s conclusory statement in this matter that state campaign committees of 
federal committees are, as a matter of law, EFMC’d by federal candidates in perpetuity.  Why?  
Because there was no dispute by any of the candidates in these matters as to whether they were 
exercising control over their respective state campaigns. In the Advisory Opinions, both federal 
candidates made the request to the Commission asking about how they, as federal candidates, could 
spend the money from their respective state campaigns without triggering a soft money violation.  
The question as to whether the federal candidate EFMC’d the state committee was not a question in 
these requests, as the answer to that question was self-explanatory.  Likewise, in MUR 6601, there 
was, again, no dispute that Oelrich controlled the state committee, as the issue in that case revolved 
around him participating in the state campaign’s advertising as a federal candidate.    

 
Unlike in the above-referenced precedent, there is a genuine dispute of fact as to whether Mr. 

Harris EFMC’d the state campaign at the time the contribution to Stand for Truth was made.  That 
makes this matter materially different from the cited materials.  Most importantly, nowhere in the 
cited materials is there any sort of language that implies that, as a matter of law, federal candidates 
EFMC their state campaign committees.  As such, making a legal presumption that federal 
candidates EFMC their state campaign committees in perpetuity based on the above-referenced 
precedent, despite assurances from the federal candidate claiming otherwise, is incorrect.   
 

Bolstering our position is the fact that the Commission, in past precedent, has repeatedly 
dispelled the presumption that a federal candidate’s previous involvement with a political committee 
makes that committee EFMC’d by that candidate in perpetuity.1  For example, in MUR 7783 
(Friends of Byron Donalds), the Commission dismissed a case where the a political committee 
formed by Representative Byron Donalds, Friends of Byron Donalds, made a contribution to an 
independent-expenditure-only political committee that independently supported Representative 
Donalds five months after he resigned as Chair of the political committee.  As the three Republican 
Commissioners stated in their Statement of Reasons in that case, “the Act does not prohibit an entity 
from engaging in political speech merely because it was, at some point in the past, EFMC’d by an 
individual who later became a federal candidate or officeholder.”2  There is no reason why the 
rationale in MUR 7783 should not apply in this matter.  Harris ceased involvement with State 
Committee in March of 2020.  The contribution to Stand for Truth was then made over six months 
after Harris disaffiliated with the State Committee, and as previously stated, he had zero involvement 
in the decision regarding the State Committee’s contribution to Stand for Truth.  

 
The only material difference we have found between MUR 7783 and this case is this self-

created legal presumption that state campaign committees of a federal candidate are automatically 
considered EFMC’d by federal candidate.  However, all of the above information shows that there is 
no legal support for that presumption. As such, when there is a genuine dispute regarding a federal 
                                            
1  Statement of Reasons for Vice Chairman Matthew S. Petersen and Caroline C. Hunter, MURs 6789 and 
6852 (Special Operations for America, et al) at 4 (May 28, 2019).  See also Statement of Reasons of Vice Chairman 
Matthew S. Petersen and Commissioner Caroline C. Hunter at 8, MUR 6928 (Santorum) (“Thus, an individual’s 
mere association with an organization prior to becoming a candidate does not give rise to a violation of 
the Act or Commission regulations[.]”). 
2  Statement of Reasons of Chairman Allen Dickerson and Commissioners Sean Cooksey and James E. 
“Trey” Trainor, MUR 7783 at 4 (citing Statement of Reasons of Vice Chair Dickerson and Commissioners Cooksey 
and Trainor at 9 (Aug. 3, 2021), MUR 7354 (Friends of Chris McDaniel, et al.)). 
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candidate’s role in their state campaign committee’s actions, the Commission should weigh the facts 
and circumstances in making a legal determination on whether a state campaign committee is acting 
at the direction of a federal candidate.  We ask that the Commission re-review its analysis in this case 
in light of the information presented in this Response.  

 
2.  Respondents Should Be Provided Fair Notice if the Commission Creates New 

Precedent.  
 
The Commission’s position is this matter is the polar opposite from past precedent.  Anyone 

reading this F&LA here and the Statement of Reasons in MUR 7783 would be completely baffled. In 
situations where the Commission is creating a new guidepost for compliance, it is crucial that the 
Commission provide fair notice of such change, rather than enforcing that change on Respondents in 
an enforcement context who relied on past precedent (and common sense).  Creating new rules in 
enforcement signals to campaigns, political organizations, or any other individual or entity that could 
be regulated by the Commission that they could be in violation of the law based on a future 
interpretation of that law.  This will inevitably chill an organization’s political speech, as no 
organization will want to participate in an activity that could put them on the hook for a violation that 
they do not know even exists.3  

 
Making matters worse, the Commission’s seemingly inconsistent treatment regarding EFMC 

issues only creates more confusion on an already confusing issue.  There is already limited guidance 
on the Commission’s EFMC regulations, which makes it difficult for the regulatory community to 
provide guidance on such a significant violation.  Three Commissioners recently said it best—“[i]t 
violates principles of fundamental fairness to hold respondents liable for violating legal rules that have 
not been previously announced, and any attempts by the Commission to enforce vague and confusing 
guidance risks waste, inefficiency, and significant litigation.”4   

 
There are other ways for the Commission to signal an enforcement change without penalizing 

Respondents who had no reason to know they were in violation of FECA or Commission regulations.  
In fact, the Commission just used one of those methods in a recent enforcement case.  For example, 
in MUR 7454 (Blue Magnolia, et al.), the Commission found no reason to believe the Respondents 
violated FECA or Commission regulations when the Respondent Super PAC did not obtain and 
report the required information for reporting LLC contributions.  However, four Commissioners 
released a Statement of Reasons on that matter, explaining that their position was based on the 
Commission not finding reason to believe in other cases related to this specific enforcement matter, 
and moving forward, the Commission would find reason to believe and seek civil penalties in 
future enforcement cases. 5   While we believe the best way to enact policy changes is through the 
rulemaking process, using Statements of Reason to signal to the regulatory community new 

                                            
3  We have expressed concern about this precedent in other responses to the Commission.  MUR 7577 (Ander 
PAC), Response to Reason to Believe Finding and Conciliation Agreement (Apr. 19, 2021).   
4  Policy Statement of Chairman Allen Dickerson and Commissioners Sean J. Cooksey and James E. “Trey” 
Trainor, III Concerning the Application of 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c).  
5  Statement of Reasons of Chair Allen Dickerson, Vice Chair Steven T. Walther, Commissioner Shana 
Broussard and Commissioner Ellen Weintraub, MUR 7454 (“Nevertheless, as the Commission has not previously 
found reason to believe under these circumstances, we did not seek a civil penalty in this case. As the Factual & 
Legal Analysis approved in this Matter explains, contributions from LLCs to committees must be attributed pursuant 
to Commission regulations, and those regulations apply to all committees, including IEOPCs. The Commission will 
apply that understanding going forward, and may seek civil penalties in appropriate future cases.”).    
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enforcement policies is certainly better than retroactively penalizing respondents who had no 
knowledge of such change.  
 
 3. Conclusion. 
 

We appreciate your consideration of this letter.  While we have significant concerns 
regarding the Commission’s conclusion in this matter, the Respondents are defunct organizations, 
which prohibits the Respondents’ ability to incur additional legal costs associated with further 
investigation.  Therefore, we have attached proposed edits to the conciliation agreement.  Should 
you, or any Commissioner, have any questions or concerns regarding our letter, please let us know at 
cspies@dickinson-wright.com or kreynolds@dickinson-wright.com.  
   
 
       Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
        
       Charlie Spies  
       Katie Reynolds 
       Counsel to Respondents  
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